
Agenda - Finance Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 1 - Senedd
Meeting date: Thursday, 15 December 
2016
Meeting time: 10.00

For further information contact:
Bethan Davies
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6372 
SeneddFinance@assembly.wales

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 
interest

 

2 Paper(s) to note
(Page 1) 

Letter from the Chair of the Equality, Local Government and Communities 
Committee to the Chair - Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Health 
complaints - 5 December 2016

(10.00) (Pages 2 - 9) 
Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government regarding 
Autumn Statement – 6 December 2016

(10.00) (Pages 10 - 11) 
Letter from Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government regarding Annual 
Budget Motion - 12 December 2016

(Pages 12 - 13) 

3 Landfill Disposals Tax (Wales) Bill: Evidence session 1
(10.00-11.45) (Pages 14 - 36) 

Mark Drakeford AM, Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government
Emma Cordingley – Lawyer
Sarah Tully – Devolved Tax Policy Project Manager 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of the meeting
(11.45)  

5 Landfill Disposals Tax (Wales) Bill: Consideration of evidence
(11.45-12.00)  

6 Wales Audit Office Report: Preparations for the implementation of 
fiscal devolution in Wales
(12.00-12.15) (Pages 37 - 65) 

Paper 1 - Wales Audit Office Report - Preparations for the implementation of 
fiscal devolution in Wales – December 2016
Paper 2 – Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales: 
Response from Welsh Government 

7 Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013: The role of the Finance Committee
(12.15-12.30) (Pages 66 - 94) 

Paper 3 - Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013 - The role of the Finance Committee

8 Forward work programme
(12.30-13.00) (Pages 95 - 98) 

Paper 4 – Forward work programme – Spring term



Concise Minutes - Finance Committee
Meeting Venue:

Committee Room 4 - Tŷ Hywel

Meeting date: Wednesday, 7 December 
2016

Meeting time: 09.31 - 10.05

This meeting can be viewed 
on Senedd TV at:
http://senedd.tv/en/3872

Private

Attendance

Category Names

Assembly Members:

Simon Thomas AM (Chair)

Mike Hedges AM

Steffan Lewis AM

Nick Ramsay AM

Mark Reckless AM

Committee Staff:

Bethan Davies (Clerk)

Catherine Hunt (Second Clerk)

Georgina Owen (Deputy Clerk)

Martin Jennings (Researcher)

Christian Tipples (Researcher)

Gwyn Griffiths (Legal Adviser)

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest 

1.1 The Chair welcomed Members to the meeting.

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2

http://senedd.tv/


1.2 Apologies were received from David Rees AM and Eluned Morgan AM.

2 Paper(s) to note 

2.1 The papers were noted.

3 Land Transaction Tax and Anti-avoidance of Devolved Taxes (Wales) 
Bill: Consideration of draft report 

3.1 The Committee agreed the draft report with minor changes.

4 Wales Audit Office: Fee Scheme 2017-18 

4.1 The Committee approved the Wales Audit Office Fee Scheme 2017-18.

5 Financial implications of legislation: Approach to scrutiny 

5.1 The Committee considered its approach to scrutinising financial information within 
Bills during the fifth Assembly.

6 Financial implications of the Public Health (Wales) Bill 

6.1 The Committee considered the financial implications of the Public Health (Wales) 
Bill and agreed to invite the Minister for Social Services and Public Health in for further 
scrutiny.

Pack Page 2



 

 

Simon Thomas AM 

Chair, Finance Committee 
 

5 December 2016 

 

 

Dear Simon 

 

Thank you for your letter dated 10 November 2016 in which you raised concern 

about the increase in complaints against NHS bodies to the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales (the Ombudsman) and the subsequent administrative 

burden on the NHS of dealing with complaints.  

 

At our meeting on 23 November, we took evidence from the Ombudsman in 

connection with his Annual Report 2015-16. During the session, we raised the 

increase in health complaints with him. He reported that there had been a notable 

increase in complaints against two health boards, namely Abertawe Bro 

Morgannwg University Health Board (UHB) and Betsi Cadwaladr UHB, which he 

believed could explain the overall increase in complaints against NHS bodies. He 

also reported that complaints against NHS bodies in other parts of Wales were 

reducing. 

 

The Ombudsman suggested that recent high profile complaints against these 

UHBs meant that individuals were more prepared to complain than would 

otherwise be the case.  He told us that both Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB had been assigned an improvement officer to improve 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-16 PTN1

Pack Page 2

Agenda Item 2.1



 

 

complaint handling and to help ensure that improvements occur in those areas of 

service delivery where failings have been identified. He also told us that five out of 

seven health boards have been assigned an improvement officer. 

 

The above matter was one of several relating to NHS bodies and the provision of 

health services raised during the session. Given that these matters falls within the 

remit of the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee, Members agreed that I 

should write to that Committee to draw its attention to them. I have written in 

similar terms to the Cabinet Secretary for Health, Well-being and Sport. I enclose 

a copy of these letters for information. 

 

Kind regards 

 
John Griffiths AC / AM 

Cadeirydd / Chair 

Pack Page 3



 

 

Dai Lloyd AM 

Chair, Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
 

5 December 2016 

 

 

Dear Dai 

 

At our meeting on 23 November, the Equality, Local Government and 

Communities Committee (the Committee) took evidence from the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales (the Ombudsman) in connection with his Annual Report 

2015-16.  

 

During the session, a number of matters were raised relating to NHS bodies and 

the provision of health services. Given that these matters fall within the remit of 

the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee, Members agreed that I should write 

to you to draw them to your attention. I have written in similar terms to the 

Cabinet Secretary for Health, Well-being and Sport. 

 

Increase in health complaints 

 

Following correspondence from Simon Thomas AM, Chair of Finance Committee 

raising concerns about the increase in complaints against NHS bodies and the 

subsequent burden on the NHS of dealing with complaints, we questioned the 

Ombudsman on this matter. The Ombudsman reported that there had been a 

notable increase in complaints against two health boards, namely Abertawe Bro 

Pack Page 4



 

 

Morgannwg University Health Board (UHB) and Betsi Cadwaladr UHB, which he 

believed could explain the overall increase in complaints against NHS bodies. He 

also reported that complaints against NHS bodies in other parts of Wales were 

reducing. 

 

The Ombudsman suggested that recent high profile complaints against these 

UHBs meant that individuals were more prepared to complain than would 

otherwise be the case.  He told us that both Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB had been assigned an improvement officer to improve 

complaint handling and to help ensure that improvements occur in those areas of 

service delivery where failings have been identified. He also told us that five out of 

seven health boards have been assigned an improvement officer.   

 

Governance and accountability 

 

A key theme emerging from the Ombudsman’s evidence was the need to ensure 

good leadership and governance across health boards and to develop a culture in 

which complaints are viewed as an opportunity for continuous improvement in 

services. Linked to this, the Ombudsman highlighted the importance of effective 

scrutiny of health boards and suggested that further clarity was needed on 

scrutiny arrangements.  

 

Out-of-hours care 

  

The Ombudsman told us that, during the reporting year, he had published his first 

thematic report, Out-of-hours: Time to care, which highlighted a number of cases 

investigated that showed inadequate standards of care given to patients in 

hospitals outside of normal working hours. He also told us that he was awaiting a 

response from the Welsh Government to the report and would be meeting with 

the Deputy Chief Medical Officer shortly to discuss potential actions arising from 

it.  

 

  

Pack Page 5



 

 

I should be grateful if you would consider following up the above matters with the 

Cabinet Secretary at an appropriate time.  

 

Kind regards 

 
John Griffiths AC / AM 

Cadeirydd / Chair 

Pack Page 6



 

 

Vaughan Gethin AM 

Cabinet Secretary for Health, Well-being and Sport 
 

5 December 2016 

 

 

Dear Vaughan 

 

At our meeting on 23 November, the Equality, Local Government and 

Communities Committee (the Committee) took evidence from the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales (the Ombudsman) in connection with his Annual Report 

2015-16.  

 

During the session, a number of matters were raised relating to NHS bodies and 

the provision of health services. The Committee agreed that I should write to you 

to draw them to your attention. 

 

Increase in health complaints 

 

Following correspondence from Simon Thomas AM, Chair of Finance Committee 

raising concerns about the increase in health complaints and the subsequent 

burden on the NHS of dealing with complaints, we questioned the Ombudsman on 

this matter. The Ombudsman reported that there had been a notable increase in 

complaints against two health boards, namely Abertawe Bro Morgannwg 

University Health Board (UHB) and Betsi Cadwaladr UHB, which could explain the 

Pack Page 7



 

 

overall increase in complaints against NHS bodies. He also reported that 

complaints against NHS bodies in other parts of Wales were reducing. 

 

The Ombudsman suggested that recent high profile complaints against these 

UHBs meant that individuals were more prepared to complain than would 

otherwise be the case.  He told us that both Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB had been assigned an improvement officer to improve 

complaint handling and to help ensure that improvements occur in those areas of 

service delivery where failings have been identified. He also told us that five out of 

seven health boards have been assigned an improvement officer.   

 

Governance and accountability 

 

A key theme emerging from the Ombudsman’s evidence was the need to ensure 

good leadership and governance across health boards and to develop a culture in 

which complaints are viewed as an opportunity for continuous improvement in 

services. Linked to this, the Ombudsman highlighted the importance of effective 

scrutiny of health boards and suggested that further clarity was needed on 

scrutiny arrangements.  

 

Out-of-hours care 

  

The Ombudsman told us that, during the reporting year, he had published his first 

thematic report, Out-of-hours: Time to care, which highlighted a number of cases 

investigated that showed inadequate standards of care given to patients in 

hospitals outside of normal working hours. He also told us that he was awaiting a 

response from the Welsh Government to the report and would be meeting with 

the Deputy Chief Medical Officer shortly to discuss potential actions arising from 

it.  

 

  

  

Pack Page 8



 

 

I have written in similar terms to the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee and 

requested that it considers following up these matters with you at an appropriate 

time. 

Kind regards 

 
John Griffiths AC / AM 

Cadeirydd / Chair 

Pack Page 9



Mark Drakeford AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales 

  

 
Ein cyf/Our ref   
 

Simon Thomas AM 
Chair, Finance Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 

Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 
 

 
Annwyl Simon, 
 
When I responded to the Finance Committee report on the First Supplementary 
Budget for 2016– 7, I committed to providing the Committee with details of the impact 
of Barnett consequentials on the Wales DEL following UK Government fiscal events.   
 
Following the UK Government’s Autumn Statement please find attached, at Annex A, 
a detailed list of all Barnett consequentials notified on 23 November, along with 
aggregated totals for each classification of expenditure in the financial years 2016-17 
to 2020-21. 
 
It is important to emphasise that these are indicative figures and are subject to 
confirmation in the settlement letter from HM Treasury, which we are still to receive.  
 
I have for clarity also included in the table the additional funding recently announced 
by the UK Government as a result of the Apprenticeship Levy.  
 
I hope that this information is helpful to the Committee.   
 

Yn gywir, 

 

 

 
Mark Drakeford AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 

 
    6 December  2016 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-16 PTN2

Pack Page 10

Agenda Item 2.2

mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales


Autumn Statement adjustments to the Welsh settlement   (£m)                Annex A 

 
 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Business Rates Measures             

Rural Rate Relief RDEL   0.340 0.283 0.283   

Fibre relief RDEL   0.170 0.339*. 0.566   

Industrial Strategy            

Northern Power House: Investment Fund CDEL-FTs 0.170 0.226 0.226 0.226 0.226 

Midlands Engine: Investment Fund CDEL-FTs 0.967 0.967 0.967 0.967 0.967 

General Measures             

Flooding  - DEFRA  CDEL   0.057 0.306 0.566 0.226 

Flooding – Roads CDEL   2.830 1.415 1.455   

National Gallery grant for Pontormo painting  CDEL 1.099         

Mayfield Review of Management  RDEL   0.283 0.283 0.170   

Wentworth Woodhouse RDEL   0.067 0.362 0.000   

Creative Media Centre Plymouth CDEL   0.057       

Studio 144 Southampton CDEL   0.090*.       

Royal Society of Arts School Pilots RDEL   0.025 0.017 0.005*.   

Rugby League World Cup 2021 CDEL   0.057 0.113 0.141*. 0.142 

Rugby League World Cup 2021 RDEL 0.113 0.113 0.170 0.226   

World Road Cycling CDEL   0.028 0.283 0.283 0.255 

World Road Cycling RDEL 0.271 0.065 0.117 0.057   

Right to Buy - extended pilot RDEL   8.490 2.830     

Midlands Rail Hub RDEL   0.113 0.170     

Invest in University Tech Transfers CDEL   1.415 1.415 1.415 1.415 

Grammar Schools CDEL   2.830 2.830 2.830 2.830 

Investment and Productivity Fund            

Transport            

RIS top-up CDEL         16.980 

Strategic roads – pinchpoints CDEL   5.377 4.528 2.547   

Local roads and local transport CDEL   11.886 18.395 17.829 14.150 

Development funding for M25 CDEL     0.736     

Smart ticketing CDEL   1.415       

Development funding Oxford-Cambridge + M25 CDEL   0.283 1.245     

Housing            

Accelerated build-out  CDEL   13.584 30.281 31.696 18.112 

Affordable housing grants CDEL   25.753 24.904 20.489 7.075 

“Help-to-Build”, including “Roads for Homes” CDEL   2.830 14.150 45.280 67.920 

Research and development            

QR funding CDEL   1.191 2.478 4.051 4.765 

Non-Barnett additions             

Apprenticeship Levy RDEL   13.700 6.154     

 TOTALS  2.620 94.242 114.997 131.082 135.063 
*Figures rounded down to ensure overall total balances  

Summary: RDEL 0.384 23.366 10.725 1.307  

 CDEL - Traditional 1.099 69.683 103.079 128.582 133.870 
 CDEL - FTs 1.137 1.193 1.193 1.193 1.193 

  2.620 94.242 114.997 131.082 135.063 

 

Pack Page 11



Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-16 PTN3

Pack Page 12

Agenda Item 2.3



Pack Page 13



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 14

Agenda Item 3 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 20

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Preparations for the 
implementation of fiscal 
devolution in Wales

December 2016

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-16 P1

Pack Page 37

Agenda Item 6



2

The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines and certifies  
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS bodies.  
He also has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with 
which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government value for money 
studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office,  
which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General. 

© Auditor General for Wales 2016

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. If you re-use it, 
your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged  
as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identified 
any third party copyright material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned  
before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/or language, please 
contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. We welcome telephone calls in Welsh 
and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or English and we will respond in the language you have 
used. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

I have prepared and published this report in accordance with the  
Government of Wales Acts 1998 and 2006.

The Wales Audit Office study team comprised Matthew Coe,  
Gareth Lucey, Ben Robertson and Deborah Woods  

under the direction of Richard Harries.

Huw Vaughan Thomas
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Pack Page 38



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 3

Contents

	 Summary report	 4

Key areas of focus through to April 2018	 7

1	 The fiscal reform agenda is well-structured, has been appropriately  
resourced, and is making generally good progress	 9

There is a robust structure for the governance of the fiscal reform agenda  
that has evolved appropriately over time to reflect changing circumstances	 10

The work to deliver fiscal reform is adequately resourced at present, with  
appropriately skilled and experienced staff, but the resourcing and scope  
of future Welsh Treasury functions need to be continuously reviewed	 12

The Welsh Government has made good progress to date in developing  
the legislative and fiscal frameworks for devolved tax arrangements	 13

The Welsh Government is engaging extensively and effectively with  
a wide range of internal and external stakeholders	 16

2	 The Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme is well  
structured and staffed, although the delivery of all projects will  
need very careful management in the coming months 	 18

There is a clear governance and reporting structure to manage the  
establishment of the Welsh Revenue Authority and its functions	 19

While the Welsh Government estimates that the costs of the resources  
to set up the Welsh Revenue Authority remain in line with their initial  
published estimates, a key challenge will be ensuring the right  
resources are in place at the right time	 21

Despite some changes to initial timetables, the delivery of the Welsh  
Revenue Authority Implementation Programme is progressing well,  
but detailed plans for delivery now need to be finalised and approved	 22

	 Appendices	

Appendix 1 – Methods	 25

Pack Page 39



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales4

Summary report

1	 Fiscal devolution refers to the transfer of taxation and borrowing powers from the 
UK government to the National Assembly for Wales (the National Assembly) and 
Welsh Ministers. From 1 April 2018, and for the first time in over 800 years, Wales 
will become responsible for raising an element of its own tax revenues. The Welsh 
Government has been considering the implications of this fiscal devolution since 
2013 as part of its fiscal reform agenda. 

2	 The Wales Act (2014) devolved certain taxation and borrowing powers from 
the UK Government and Parliament to the Welsh Government and the National 
Assembly. The Act empowers the National Assembly to legislate for taxes on the 
purchase or leasing of land and buildings and the disposal of waste to landfill 
for the first time. It also paves the way for the future devolution of an element of 
income tax-raising powers to the National Assembly, extends the circumstances 
in which Welsh Ministers can borrow in the short-term to manage the Welsh 
Government’s budget, and grants Welsh Ministers new powers to borrow for  
capital expenditure. Exhibit 1 sets out the specific changes to the financial 
environment in Wales.

3	 The Wales Act 2014 was followed by the Tax Collection and Management 
(Wales) Act 2016, which was agreed unanimously by the National Assembly on 
8 March 2016 and received Royal Assent in April 2016. The Act establishes the 
foundations for Wales’ devolved tax regime, including the establishment of the 
Welsh Revenue Authority (WRA). This will be a new non-Ministerial Government 
Department. This means that whilst Welsh Ministers will set the policy framework 
and provide strategic direction, neither Ministers nor the Assembly will interfere 
in the day-to-day taxation decisions relating to the management and collection of 
devolved taxes.

4	 The Welsh Government is also developing specific legislation for two new devolved 
taxes; the Land Transaction Tax (LTT) and Landfill Disposals Tax (LDT) to 
replace UK Stamp Duty Land Tax and UK Landfill Tax.  

5	 In September 2015, the Auditor General for Wales wrote to the Chair of the 
Finance Committee setting out his intention to issue a progress report on the 
state of the Welsh Government’s preparations to implement fiscal devolution for 
Wales. This first review was undertaken in October 2016 and sought to answer the 
question ‘Is the Welsh Government well placed to successfully implement fiscal 
devolution in Wales by 1 April 2018?’. Appendix 1 provides more detail about the 
scope of our work and our audit methods. 

6	 This report looks first at the Welsh Government’s approach in general to the overall 
fiscal devolution including the work of its Welsh Treasury functions; and secondly 
at specific work to date for establishing the WRA. The overall fiscal reform agenda 
is largely at the end of its planning phase and is now about to move forward 
into the delivery phase. Because the key work is still progressing, including the 
tax collection systems, the fiscal framework for adjustments to UK funding, and 
detailed forecasts required to underpin that fiscal framework, the arrangements 
around these areas will be covered in more detail in a second review the Auditor 
General intends to conduct in the autumn of 2017.

Pack Page 40



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 5

Exhibit 1 – Changes to the tax regime in Wales arising from the Wales Act 2014

Wales Act 2014

Stamp Duty 
Land Tax

HMRC and 
Land Registry 
collect tax on 
land and 
building 
transactions.

Borrowing

Welsh ministers can borrow 
up to a total of £0.5 billion 
from the Welsh Consolidated 
Fund to cover temporary 
shortfalls in cash. There 
has been no need for this 
facility to be used.

Income Tax

Before the introduction 
of the Wales Act, the 
National Assembly for 
Wales had no powers 
to vary income tax 
rates.

Land 
Transaction 
Tax

Welsh Revenue 
Authority will 
collect tax on 
land and 
buildings 
transactions 
in Wales.

Landfill 
Disposal 
Tax

Welsh Revenue 
Authority will 
collect tax on 
waste disposals 
to landfill in 
Wales.

Borrowing and 
cash reserve

Welsh ministers can borrow 
up to a total limit of £0.5 
billion for capital spending 
and £0.5 billion for revenue 
purposes. They can also 
operate a cash reserve. 
Revenue borrowing will 
be from the Welsh 
Consolidated Fund and 
capital borrowing can be 
from various sources.

Welsh rate of 
income tax

The National 
Assembly for Wales 
will set a rate of 
income tax for 
those identified as 
Welsh taxpayers 
each year. Income 
tax, including the 
Welsh rate, will be 
collected by HMRC.

Before

After

April
2019

April
2018

April
2018

April
2018

Landfill Tax

HMRC 
collects tax 
on waste 
disposals 
to landfill.

1

1	 A date for income tax devolution has not yet been set. April 2019 is the earliest possible date assuming Royal Assent for the Wales 
Bill in early 2017.

Pack Page 41



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales6

7	 We concluded that the Welsh Government is preparing well to take on 
its fiscal devolution responsibilities, including the establishment of the 
Welsh Revenue Authority by the April 2018 commencement date, although 
significant challenges remain in getting detailed plans in place and delivering 
key projects. The main focus and challenges in the coming year are centred on 
agreeing the fiscal and legislative frameworks with key stakeholders including the 
UK Government; getting detailed plans for establishing the WRA in place; and very 
careful management of programme and project delivery. The following paragraphs 
provide a brief overview of our key findings.

8	 The fiscal reform agenda is well-structured, has been appropriately 
resourced, and is making generally good progress. There is a robust structure 
for the governance of the fiscal reform agenda that has evolved appropriately 
over time to reflect changing circumstances. The work to deliver fiscal reform 
is adequately resourced at present, with appropriately skilled and experienced 
staff, but the resourcing and scope of future Welsh Treasury functions need to be 
continuously reviewed. The Welsh Government has made good progress to date 
in developing the legislative and fiscal frameworks for devolved tax arrangements. 
The Welsh Government is engaging extensively and effectively with a wide range 
of internal and external stakeholders.

9	 The Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme is well structured 
and staffed, although the delivery of all projects will need very careful 
management in the coming months. There is a clear governance and reporting 
structure to manage the establishment of the WRA and its functions. While 
the Welsh Government estimates that the costs of the resources to set up the 
WRA remain in line with their initial published estimates, a key challenge will be 
ensuring the right resources are in place at the right time. Despite some changes 
to initial timetables, the delivery of the Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation 
Programme (WRAIP) is progressing well, but detailed plans for delivery now need 
to be finalised and approved. 

Pack Page 42



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 7

Key areas of focus through to April 2018
10	 The Welsh Government has developed a well-defined critical timetable for the 

devolution of taxes to Wales which is summarised in Exhibit 2 below.

11	 In order to meet the key milestones of this critical timetable, the Welsh 
Government, through the various programme and project boards, is currently 
finalising its detailed delivery plans. Our key recommendation is that this process 
should be completed as soon as possible to allow the programme boards and 
groups to move forward into the delivery phase in 2017. 

Exhibit 2 – Summarised timetable for devolved taxes in Wales

Devolved Taxes in Wales   
December 2014 
The Wales Act UK
legislation devolves new 
tax powers to Wales

29138 © Crown copyright 2016, Welsh Government

Summer 2017
Both bills are passed by 
the National Assembly 
and become Acts

April 2016
Tax Collection & 
Management (TCM) 
Act passed. Giving us 
powers to establish our 
devolved tax arrangements,
including setting up the 
Welsh Revenue Authority 
(WRA) to collect and manage
the new taxes.

Autumn 2016
Introduction of Landfill 
Disposals Tax (LDT) Bill 
and Land Transaction 
Tax and Anti-avoidance 
of Devolved Taxes (LTTA) 
Bill into the National 
Assembly

2017
Welsh Revenue Authority 
becomes operational to 
collect and manage 
the new taxes

April 2018
New Welsh Taxes in 
operation. 
Land Transaction Tax and 
Landfill Disposals Tax 
replace the equivalent 
UK taxes (Stamp Duty Land 
Tax and UK Landfill Tax)

Copyright: Welsh Government 

Pack Page 43



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales8

12	 The specific areas that these detailed delivery plans need to address are: 

  a	 Given that the bills for the specific taxes are progressing through the 
legislative process, the Welsh Government will need to ensure the impact of 
any amendments to these bills is reflected in the detailed project plans and 
processes.

  b	 There will be challenges in agreeing a timely fiscal framework, striking the 
balance between preparing forecasts as late as possible to ensure accuracy, 
and allowing adequate time for the National Assembly’s scrutiny of the 2018-19 
budget.  

  c	 The Welsh Government needs to ensure that it is continuously reviewing what 
Welsh Treasury functions it needs in light of fiscal devolution, in particular the 
capacity and number of staff to deliver these roles up to and beyond 1 April 
2018.  

  d	 Detailed and close engagement will be required as the programme moves 
through the delivery phase and approaches the implementation date of 1 April 
2018, including the need to raise awareness of the changes to the tax regime 
in Wales among the wider general public.

  e	 The WRA’s statutory basis, governance and accountability frameworks need to 
be clearly defined and understood by all of its key stakeholders from the outset.  

  f	 The WRAIP needs to approve formally the underlying project plans as soon 
as possible for each project to move quickly into delivering its objectives. The 
programme will need very careful governance, management and monitoring as 
it progresses over the coming months.

  g	 More detailed budgets now need to be developed to ensure the WRA is 
established on time, within cost and with the right skilled people.  

Pack Page 44



Part 1

The fiscal reform agenda is  
well-structured, has been  
appropriately resourced, and  
is making generally good progress 

Pack Page 45



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales10

There is a robust structure for the governance of the fiscal 
reform agenda that has evolved appropriately over time to 
reflect changing circumstances 
1.1	 The Welsh Government established a fiscal reform agenda in 2013 to implement 

the various requirements of the Wales Act 2014. This structure has developed as 
the detail, needs and circumstances of implementing the Act have become clearer. 
The structure at October 2016 of the fiscal reform agenda is shown in Exhibit 3 
and identifies two main parts to the fiscal reform agenda. We are aware that further 
changes are planned in the coming months as the fiscal reform agenda continues 
to evolve. 

1.2	 The WRAIP Board oversees projects aimed at the establishment and smooth 
running of the WRA. The Welsh Treasury, as part of the Welsh Government, 
oversees the Legislative Delivery Board, Senior Officials Tax Group and the Future 
Budget Project Board. The Future Budget Project is managed within the Finance 
Department, although it forms part of the fiscal reform agenda.

Exhibit 3 – Fiscal Reform Agenda - Governance, reporting and accountability

Welsh Ministers

Permanent Secretary

Fiscal Reform Oversight Group

WRA & Welsh Treasury

Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation
Programme Board

Goverence &
Organisation
Project Board

Operational
Policy
Project

Digital
Services
Project

Legislation
Delivery Board

Senior Officials 
Tax Group

Future Budget
Project Board

Tax
Policy

Working
Group

Pack Page 46



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 11

1.3	 A Welsh Treasury Implementation Programme was originally established in 
November 2013 to manage and deliver the changes to the fiscal powers mandated 
by the Wales Act 2014. Following an independent assurance review in November 
2015 the Welsh Treasury Implementation Programme was closed and a formal 
programme structure was mobilised around the establishment of the Welsh 
Revenue Authority. This provided an early separation between the future work of 
the Welsh Treasury (legislation, tax policy, Budget, borrowing etc.) and the future 
Welsh Revenue Authority.  

1.4	 The work of both the Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme and the 
Welsh Treasury is overseen by the Fiscal Reform Oversight Group (the Oversight 
Group) which considers and advises on the wider impact of fiscal reform in Wales. 
The Oversight Group aims to ensure a coherent approach to planning and delivery, 
provides strategic assurance on future change decisions, and monitors progress by 
the WRAIP and the Welsh Treasury. The diagram at Exhibit 3 illustrates this.

1.5	 The Oversight Group receives high-level progress reports from the WRA 
Implementation Director and the Director, Welsh Treasury and monitors actions 
arising from the previous assurance reviews. The formal boards and groups meet 
regularly, have defined terms of reference and receive standard progress reports 
from the individual projects at each meeting, including the review and mitigation 
of key risks. Day-to-day operations and delivery are then managed by the various 
projects using the Welsh Government’s established programme and project 
management procedures.   

1.6	 The Oversight Group benefits from the involvement of senior Welsh Government 
officials, and is chaired by the Deputy Permanent Secretary for Economy, Skills 
and Natural Resources. In addition, a broader perspective is brought by an 
external member of the Oversight Group who has experience of delivering change 
programmes outside the Welsh Government. More generally, there is a culture of 
welcoming challenge and external engagement, with external representation on all 
programme boards and a wide-ranging engagement strategy.

1.7	 The consensus from our interviews with Welsh Government staff and external 
stakeholders is that the current governance arrangements are working well and are 
enabling fiscal reforms to be implemented in a timely and effective way. From our 
work, we would agree that the governance structures for the overall fiscal reform 
agenda are clearly articulated, well understood and have evolved appropriately to 
meet changing needs.

Pack Page 47



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales12

The work to deliver fiscal reform is adequately resourced at 
present, with appropriately skilled and experienced staff, but the 
resourcing and scope of future Welsh Treasury functions need 
to be continuously reviewed
1.8	 The WRAIP, the Welsh Treasury and each of the formally constituted projects 

have appointed senior responsible officers, all of whom have a background and 
extensive experience in that particular area. While the WRA Implementation 
Director is a full time role, the majority of project officers are not and manage their 
time across a number of functions within the Welsh Government. At the individual 
project level, appropriate skills have been actively sought by advertising posts 
internally and assessing the suitability of candidates on a competitive basis, rather 
than simply allocating such roles to available staff.  

1.9	 To date, the Welsh Government’s work on fiscal reform has been absorbed 
within its existing budgets for staff costs and other central services. The Welsh 
Government has published cost estimates for setting up and operating the WRA 
but has not separately identified the costs for the Welsh Treasury functions that are 
directly attributable to the fiscal reform agenda. 

1.10	 However, as the fiscal reform agenda moves into the delivery phase, there 
will need to be greater clarity on the costs of ensuring the WRA is adequately 
resourced and has suitable leadership to operate at arms length from the Welsh 
Government ahead of 1 April 2018. This is discussed in more detail in Part 2. 
Alongside this, the challenge for the Welsh Government is to ensure that it is 
continuously reviewing the scope, capacity of existing staff, and resources to 
deliver the Welsh Treasury functions up to and beyond 1 April 2018.  

Pack Page 48



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 13

The Welsh Government has made good progress to date in 
developing the legislative and fiscal frameworks for devolved 
tax arrangements 
1.11	 The Welsh Government is developing the legislative framework to establish the 

devolved tax arrangements set out in the UK’s Wales Act 2014. 

1.12	 There are three pieces of additional Welsh primary legislation:

1.13	 The Welsh Government started planning in 2013 for the devolution of these taxes 
and the legislation required. Following extensive engagement with stakeholders, 
including the Scottish Government, Wales has adopted a different approach to 
the timing of its legislation. In Scotland the legislation for the devolved taxes was 
considered first, and the Revenue Scotland and Tax Powers Act received Royal 
Assent in September 2014, after the devolved taxes legislation. By considering 
the Tax Collection and Management (Wales) Act before the devolved taxes bills, 
Welsh Government officials have had the benefit of providing a longer period of 
over 24 months (compared to six months in Scotland) to implement the WRA and 
its functions. 

1.14	 The Welsh Government considers that their legislative approach should both 
reduce the number of amendments to the primary legislation, and minimise the 
need for subsequent secondary legislation. Amongst other things, secondary 
legislation will be needed to provide the WRA with statutory criminal powers, and to 
allow Welsh ministers to vary tax rates and bands at short notice, with subsequent 
approval of any permanent variations by the National Assembly.  

1.15	 Given that the bills for the specific taxes are progressing through the legislative 
process, the challenge for the Welsh Government will be to ensure the impact 
of any amendments to these bills are reflected in the detailed project plans and 
processes.

Tax Collection and 
Management (Wales) Act

Establishes the foundations 
of the tax regime in Wales. 
This includes the 
arrangements for collecting 
and managing the new 
devolved taxes, and the 
creation of the Welsh 
Revenue Authority.

Introduced to the National 
Assembly for Wales in July 
2015. Royal Assent received 
in April 2016.

Land Transaction Tax 
and Anti-avoidance of 
Devolved Taxes 
(Wales) Bill

This will allow the WRA to 
collect taxes on land and 
buildings transactions, 
such as buying a house, 
and provides the WRA with 
the powers to take forward 
anti-avoidance action.

Introduced to the National 
Assembly for Wales in 
September 2016. Royal 
Assent expected by 
summer 2017.

Landfill Disposal 
Tax Bill

This will allow the WRA 
to collect the taxes on 
disposing of waste to 
landfill, and to enforce 
compliance with this 
legislation.

Planned to be introduced 
to the National Assembly 
for Wales in autumn 2016. 
Royal Assent expected by 
summer 2017.

Pack Page 49



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales14

1.16	 The devolved taxes regime will also operate within a fiscal framework, as well 
as the legislative framework outlined above. The Welsh Government is currently 
discussing this fiscal framework with HM Treasury and expects to complete this 
work in January 2017, in conjunction with the passage through Parliament of the 
Wales Bill proposing the devolution of further powers and responsibilities to Wales. 
We understand that discussions between the Welsh Government and HM Treasury 
have been positive. The sharing of data analyses and jointly agreed briefings on 
fiscal impact to both Welsh and UK ministers has helped to avoid disagreements 
on the likely fiscal impact of the different changes. The fiscal framework being 
discussed will cover the following aspects:

The block grant adjustment

The UK Government provides a block grant of funding to the National 
Assembly, which in turn funds the Welsh Government. There will be an 
agreed method for calculating the reduction in this block grant in 2018-19 
to reflect the anticipated revenues from taxes collected in Wales. The method 
for calculating the reduction of the block grant in subsequent years is still 
subject to negotiation between the UK and Welsh Governments. This 
increases the inherent risk to the Welsh Government’s overall annual funding, 
because while the block grant is a known fixed amount, tax revenues are 
inherently uncertain and may be higher or lower than forecast.

Borrowing powers

Welsh ministers will have the authority to borrow for the first time – up to 
a total limit of £500 million for capital projects and up to £500 million for 
revenue purposes. The revenue borrowing will cover any shortfall arising 
from tax revenues being lower than forecasts or coming in more slowly 
than expected.

A cash reserve

A cash reserve will allow the Welsh Government to carry forward surplus tax 
receipts beyond the end of the year of receipt, making it easier to manage tax 
revenues that exceed forecasts or come in more quickly than expected. The 
new reserve may also replace the existing budget exchange arrangements for 
carrying forward unspent budgets from one year to the next.

Compensating adjustments

To compensate in the event that fiscal decisions in one country directly 
impact on revenues or public expenditure elsewhere in the UK.

Revenue forecasts

Having a robust forecasting system in place will be crucial in setting the 
Welsh Government’s budget each year (although the borrowing powers and 
cash reserve should mitigate the cash consequences of any variances).

Pack Page 50



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 15

1.17	 The ongoing negotiations on the fiscal framework are supported by the Fiscal 
Strategy team in the Welsh Treasury, working closely with teams responsible for 
fiscal forecasting and budgeting. Working relationships have also been established 
with other informed sources on fiscal devolution, including the Wales Governance 
Centre at Cardiff University.

1.18	 Welsh Ministers are currently considering options for an independent fiscal body 
within Wales to provide independent assurance and oversight on tax revenue 
forecasts separate from those published by the Welsh Government. This could be 
a similar arrangement to the Office of Budgetary Responsibility for the UK, and the 
Scottish Fiscal Commission for Scotland, but will need to be proportionate to the 
scale of work involved in Wales.  

1.19	 It will be critical for the Welsh Government to have timely access to reliable 
data and well-founded forecasting tools for devolved tax revenues for it to 
effectively plan its budget and cost potential changes to tax rates and bands. 
The Welsh Treasury is developing forecasting methods for both devolved taxes 
using detailed and anonymised historic data obtained from HMRC and similar 
approaches as those used by the Scottish Government and HM Treasury. A quality 
assurance process will also begin in early 2017 to help ensure that the forecasting 
methodology is robust. Nevertheless, taxes based on property sales like LTT are 
difficult to forecast accurately because of the reliance on predictions of residential 
and commercial property prices and the annual volumes of sales and leases, both 
of which are highly volatile and susceptible to wider economic trends. Similarly, 
forecasting taxes like LDT is made more difficult due to limited landfill tax data 
currently available for Wales, and declining numbers of landfill operators as sites 
close, waste recycling rates continue to improve across Wales and other waste 
disposal methods such as incinerators are developed.

1.20	 The Welsh Government will need forecasts or forecast assumptions regarding 
devolved tax revenues to inform its 2018-19 budget submission to the National 
Assembly in autumn 2017. The Welsh Government is currently reviewing its 
budgeting process to address the recommendations of the National Assembly’s 
Finance Committee, which had asked for more time for the Assembly to scrutinise 
the budget before approval. 

1.21	 There will be challenges in agreeing a timely fiscal framework, striking the balance 
between preparing forecasts as late as possible to ensure accuracy, and allowing 
adequate time for the National Assembly’s scrutiny of the 2018-19 budget.

Pack Page 51



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales16

The Welsh Government is engaging extensively and effectively 
with a wide range of internal and external stakeholders
1.22	 Engagement with internal and external stakeholders to date has been extensive, 

detailed and well-managed. The Welsh Government carried out an initial 
stakeholder analysis exercise which identified a large number of internal and 
external stakeholders. A high-level Stakeholder Engagement Strategy was then 
designed to outline key messages and activities, and this is underpinned by 
specific Engagement or Communication Plans for each project, workstream  
and campaign within the fiscal reform agenda.

1.23	 Engagement with stakeholders is centrally managed across the fiscal reform 
agenda. To date, over 350 interested or affected parties have been identified on 
a central database, which is accompanied by records of all engagement activities 
undertaken. These tools are used to centrally monitor and inform all engagement 
activity.

1.24	 Key external stakeholders have been identified from this database, and 
consultation has been prioritised towards these bodies. Members of the Tax 
Advisory Group (which provides strategic advice to Welsh Ministers on tax policy 
and administration) and the Tax Forum (which enables the Welsh Government 
to engage with relevant professions and organisations) have been extensively 
consulted since 2014 to shape initial tax policy and legislative requirements in 
Wales. Other key parties that continue to be regularly consulted include HM 
Revenue & Customs, HM Treasury, Natural Resources Wales, the Law Society,  
the Valuation Office Agency and the Scottish Government. 

1.25	 There is also robust central management over stakeholder engagement within 
the Welsh Government itself to review the dissemination of key messages, 
and to minimise duplication of effort or clashes in policy. Key groups regularly 
consider stakeholder engagement as part of their work. These include the monthly 
communications and engagement meetings; and the Senior Officers Tax Group 
that will support a decision-making process for future Welsh tax policy decisions. 
The Fiscal Reform Oversight Group also continues to receive and review regular 
reports and plans for future engagement activities.

Pack Page 52



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 17

1.26	 As part of overall stakeholder engagement, there are various discrete engagement 
activities undertaken as part of the WRAIP. A number of external stakeholders or 
end users have been widely consulted throughout the programme to date, and 
some key examples of this activity are detailed below:

  a	 Digital Services Project: This project has consulted widely with groups of 
proposed end users and practitioners, compiling over 700 individual ‘user 
stories’ to establish requirements for the system to be used for online filing of 
Land Transaction Tax and Landfill Disposals Tax returns. These stories have 
helped in the creation of a ‘minimum viable product’ specification which sets out 
the basic requirements for any online service to Welsh taxpayers, and will be 
used as the basis for negotiation with potential suppliers.

  b	 HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC): HMRC have established a ‘Transition Board’ 
to formalise future relationships and structures with the WRA and enable a 
smooth transition in April 2018. The first meeting of this Board was in October 
2016. The exact scope and terms of reference of this Board have yet to be 
agreed between HMRC and the Welsh Government.  

To date, information has been shared between HMRC and the Welsh 
Government. Usage levels of the Stamp Duty Land Tax online system have 
been shared by HMRC to allow the Digital Services project to identify likely 
peaks and troughs of demand, and incorporate these into software system 
design.

  c	 Natural Resources Wales (NRW): Fortnightly meetings have been held 
between NRW and the Welsh Government to determine future needs and 
requirements of both bodies under the Landfill Disposals Tax regime. NRW 
have been consulted on the drafting of key legislation such as the Tax 
Collection and Management (Wales) Act and the forthcoming Landfill Disposals 
Tax Bill. A Memorandum of Understanding has also been drafted to formalise 
the relationship between the two bodies.  

NRW have also shared existing waste data returns with the Welsh Government 
to allow them to forecast future levels of collection of Landfill Disposals Tax.

1.27	 Detailed and close engagement will be required as the overall fiscal reform agenda 
moves through the delivery phase and approaches the implementation date of  
1 April 2018. A further key challenge will be to raise awareness of these tax 
changes in Wales among the wider public. A communications plan is being drafted 
and includes specific devolved tax related questions within the National Survey to 
allow the Welsh Government to monitor public awareness of the changes before 
they are implemented. 

Pack Page 53



Part 2

The Welsh Revenue Authority 
Implementation Programme is well 
structured and staffed, although  
the delivery of all projects will need  
very careful management in the  
coming months

Pack Page 54



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 19

There is a clear governance and reporting structure to manage 
the establishment of the Welsh Revenue Authority and its 
functions
2.1	 The WRAIP is responsible for establishing the WRA in line with the current internal 

timetable of November 2017. As shown in Exhibit 3, the governance arrangements 
and structure of the WRAIP are clear and split into several project boards to take 
forward specific aspects of the WRA’s implementation. 

2.2	 The WRA will be Wales’s first non-ministerial department. It will be part of the 
Welsh Government and will be headed by senior civil servants, as well as a  
Non-Executive Board and Chair. However, whilst Welsh ministers will set the policy 
framework and provide strategic direction, neither ministers nor the Assembly will 
interfere in day-to-day taxation decisions relating to the management and collection 
of devolved taxes. There will be a ‘minister responsible’ who has strategic 
responsibility for the continued existence of the non-ministerial department; the 
overall policy and statutory framework within which it operates; wider tax policy; 
and represents the non-ministerial department in the National Assembly. The 
responsible minister will also ensure that the WRA receives an appropriate budget 
to undertake its functions, through the usual budgetary process.

2.3	 Because this is the first non-ministerial department in Wales, a key challenge for 
the WRA will be to ensure that its statutory basis, governance and accountability 
frameworks are clearly defined and understood by all of its key stakeholders from 
the outset.  

2.4	 The WRAIP Board has well defined terms of reference which cover the structure 
and composition of the Board; Board members’ roles and responsibilities; and the 
scope of WRAIP. Membership of the WRAIP Board includes both senior Welsh 
Government officials and representatives from external organisations who provide 
experience, knowledge and insight. The WRAIP is led by the WRA Implementation 
Director who took up post in August 2016. The Implementation Director, on loan 
for three years from HMRC/Valuation Office Agency (VOA), brings extensive 
experience in tax from working in HM Treasury, HMRC and latterly on the Board of 
the VOA.

2.5	 At the time of our review, the WRAIP Board oversees three projects, which in turn 
have clearly defined remits and are led by senior staff. These projects cover: 

  a	 Governance and Organisation: to provide the elements for effective 
governance and organisation and all required corporate functions, for example, 
recruitment strategy, accommodation needs, governance and finance 
arrangements.

  b	 Operational policy: to develop all operational policy for the Welsh Revenue 
Authority to administer devolved taxes, for example outward facing tax 
guidance, internal procedures and staff guidance, and elements of  
secondary legislation. 

Pack Page 55



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales20

  c	 Digital Services: to provide a business process and a solution that is capable  
of administering, collecting and providing data about the devolved taxes within 
an agreed timetable and to budget. 

2.6	 The WRAIP Board monitors progress at its programme board meetings, receiving 
clear and concise highlight reports that provide updates on the WRAIP and each 
individual project. The reports include immediate milestones, successes, and risk 
identification and management. The delivery of key milestones and outcomes for 
the WRAIP and individual projects is then assessed against three classifications: 

  a	 Red: Major Issues present affecting delivery of outcomes at this time. 
Significant Management attention required.   

  b	 Amber: May not reach next key milestones/outcome to time/cost/quality  
unless a major issue is resolved. 

  c	 Green: On schedule and achieving milestones within timescales with no  
major issues. 

2.7	 At its October 2016 meeting, the Governance and Organisation project was 
assessed as Green and the Digital Services project was assessed as Amber.  
The Operational Policy project was still mobilising and so was not classified. The 
overall progress of the WRAIP was therefore assessed by the WRAIP Board as 
being Amber due to the financial uncertainties given the annual nature of public 
sector budgeting and the wider economic environment at that date. In particular, 
the longer-term budget has not been agreed and the possible cost for the provision 
of digital services for the WRA is not yet confirmed. We would agree that the 
WRAIP Board’s overall assessment of Amber is reasonable. A number of the 
key decisions that are due to be made shortly will also have a significant impact, 
including a decision on the WRA’s office location within Wales.  

2.8	 Looking ahead beyond 1 April 2018, the longer-term functions of the WRA 
are being considered and scoped so that capacity can be built into the new 
organisation from the outset. The new Chair will play a pivotal role in these 
considerations and their appointment in early 2017 is therefore a critical  
milestone for the WRAIP. 

Pack Page 56



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 21

While the Welsh Government estimates that the costs of the 
resources to set up the Welsh Revenue Authority remain in line 
with their initial published estimates, a key challenge will be 
ensuring the right resources are in place at the right time
2.9	 To date, the Welsh Government has identified the roles and responsibilities 

required to deliver the WRAIP and, on a timely basis, have recruited people with 
the requisite skills and experience who are driving the programme forward. Looking 
ahead there are plans in place for a phased recruitment of WRA staff based on 
identified need. These plans do remain flexible, and are due to be reviewed and 
revised during November 2016 by the WRA Implementation Director; and in early 
2017 on appointment of the first Chair of the WRA. It will be critical that not only are 
the right skills and experience in place, but that they are in place at the right stage 
of the WRA’s implementation. 

2.10	 As noted in Part 1, the costs to date of the overall fiscal reform agenda and the 
WRAIP have been absorbed within existing Welsh Government departmental 
budgets and day-to-day running costs. The revised Explanatory Memorandum 
published to accompany the Tax Collection and Management (Wales) Act in 
February 2016 included a Regulatory Impact Assessment outlining the best initial 
estimates for the set-up and subsequent annual operating costs for the WRA. 
These initial estimates included a range of between £4.9 million and £6.4 million 
for the estimated WRA set-up costs for the three-year period 2016-17 to 2018-19. 
The estimated annual operating costs of the WRA from 2018-19 onwards were 
estimated as being between £2.8 million and £4 million.

2.11	 The Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government has confirmed 
the expected set-up and operating costs for the WRA to be within the ranges 
previously published by the former Finance Minister. This remains the case at 
October 2016. These ranges are high level estimates at this point and the Welsh 
Government believes they will remain within the overall totals for the cost ranges. 

2.12	 The draft Welsh Government budget for 2017-18 specifically identifies for the first 
time an amount of £2 million related to the implementation of the WRA, which will 
be funded from existing budgets and reserves. There is also a further £0.5 million 
available from other sources, giving a total budget in 2017-18 of £2.5 million. We 
understand that the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government will be 
providing further detail on WRA implementation costs to the National Assembly in 
the coming months. 

2.13	 To date, the Welsh Government has ensured that the appropriate resources 
are in place for implementing the WRA. Following the appointment of the WRA 
Implementation Director and key decisions being taken, more detailed budgets now 
need to be developed to ensure the WRA is established on time, within cost and 
with the right skilled people.

Pack Page 57



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales22

Despite some changes to initial timetables, the delivery of 
the Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme is 
progressing well, but detailed plans for delivery now need to  
be finalised and approved
2.14	 The three projects of the WRAIP – Governance and Organisation, Operational 

Policy, and Digital Services – are in the process of finalising their detailed plans for 
the delivery phase in 2017-18. As shown in Exhibit 4, a number of key milestones 
and deliverables have already been successfully met, including starting the 
recruitment of the WRA Chair for an appointment in early 2017, and an agreed 
set of minimum requirements for the WRA’s online tax collection system following 
widespread consultation with end users. 

Exhibit 4 – Key milestones and deliverables for the WRAIP

Tranche 1
February 2016 – September 2016
Capabilities delivered: 
•  WRA Delegation Decision (July 2016)
•  Digital Services Project Confirmation 
   Phase (May – June 2016)
•  Appointment of Welsh Revenue 
   Authority Implementation Director 
   (August 2016)

Tranche 2

September 2016 – April 2017
Capabilities to be delivered: 
•  Decision on location of WRA 
   (November 2016)
•  Digital services ‘testing’ the market 
   followed by procurement of serviced 
   (November/December 2016)
•  WRA Chair announced (early 2017)

Tranche 4

November 2017 – April 2018
Capabilities to be delivered: 
•  Communication campaign
•  Internal and external guidance 
   published
•  Regulations in place (March 2018) 
•  UK taxes ‘switched off’, Welsh taxes 
   ‘switched on’ (April 2018)

Tranche 3

April 2017 – November 2017
Capabilities to be delivered: 
•  WRA Board (October 2017)
•  Phased recruitment of WRA Staff 
   (from April 2017)
•  Delivery of Digital Services 
   (October 2017)

Source: Welsh Government

Pack Page 58



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 23

2.15	 There has been some rescheduling within the individual projects, whilst the WRA 
Implementation Director has conducted a review of the scope of the projects within 
the overall WRAIP. These have been reported via the reports of programme and 
project highlights to the WRAIP Board. Also a decision on the location of the WRA 
was originally planned to be taken some 12 months before occupation (anticipated 
by October 2017 to enable full testing of systems and location) but is now not likely 
to be announced before the end of 2016. The mobilisation of the Operational Policy 
project board began in spring 2016 with the appointment of a project lead but only 
recently held its first meeting in September 2016.

2.16	 Detailed project work plans have been drafted for the Governance and 
Organisation project and Digital Services project, but the WRAIP Board has not yet 
formally ratified them. The Operational Policy project team are currently drafting the 
detailed project work plan, and although this is later than originally planned, there is 
no evidence to date that this project will not deliver to time on its objectives. It is the 
Implementation Director’s intention that these plans will be integrated into a WRAIP 
plan once he has concluded his review of the scope of the projects within the 
programme, although they are reliant to some degree on other key decisions yet 
to be made, such as the location of the WRA office itself. A regular review of these 
plans will be needed as the programme evolves over the next 15 months. 

2.17	 A significant part of the WRAIP is the digital services project which is developing 
the online tax collections systems for the WRA. The digital services project is 
using the AGILE2 software development methodology to manage its delivery. 
While a supplier is yet to be identified for this project, the Welsh Government 
plans to use the ‘G-Cloud’ framework contract located on the UK Government’s 
Digital Marketplace, an online database of centrally-approved ICT suppliers. The 
Welsh Government plans to award a contract to the successful supplier for the first 
phase of development by the end of 2016, and the whole digital services project is 
scheduled for completion by October 2017. While this is an ambitious timetable for 
completion, it does allow a six month contingency period before the 1 April 2018 
implementation date.

2.18	 Any potential delays to the agreement of the detailed project plans risk slippage 
in the timetable for delivering the overall WRAIP and the projects, in particular 
the digital services project where there are tight time constraints. It also risks 
increasing the overall costs of the implementation of the WRA if additional 
resources are then needed to meet the required timetable. A key area of focus for 
the WRAIP is therefore to formally approve these project plans as soon as possible 
and keep them under regular review. Each project needs to move quickly into 
delivering its objectives with very careful governance, management and monitoring 
as it progresses over the coming months.

2	 This methodology involves a high degree of consultation with stakeholders to identify requirements, with development and testing of 
elements of the system then being combined into short ‘sprints’. This contrasts with the more traditional ‘waterfall’ method of software 
development, which has clearly separate design, implementation and testing phases. AGILE is widely thought to produce software 
more in line with user needs, within tight timescales.

Pack Page 59



Appendices

Appendix 1 - Methods

Pack Page 60



Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales 25

We reviewed a range of information during our audit including:  

•	 Various legislation and draft legislation including the Wales Act 2014, Tax Collection 
& Management (Wales ) Act and the Land Transaction Tax and Anti-Avoidance of 
Devolved Taxes (Wales) Bill

•	 Publicly available information on fiscal devolution relating to both Wales and Scotland

•	 The project plans

•	 The highlight reports from key programme and project/group boards

•	 The governance documents

•	 The results of gateway reviews that have been undertaken

•	 Various reports from other audit bodies on fiscal devolution and project management 
including Audit Scotland, the National Audit Office and the New Zealand Auditor 
General

•	 Published documents from the Welsh Government and Welsh ministers 

We received an introductory presentation from the Welsh Government which covered: 

•	 Presenting progress to the audit team to set the scene

•	 Identifying how the project is developing

•	 How the project is being delivered

•	 The key risks

•	 The next stages for the individual projects/group and the overall Welsh Government 
fiscal reform agenda

We attended a stakeholder event on 29 September 2016 organised by the Finance 
Committee of the National Assembly for Wales that considered the Land Transaction  
Tax and Anti-Avoidance of Devolved Taxes (Wales) Bill

We spoke to a wide range of representatives and officials from: 

•	 The Welsh Government including the Deputy Permanent Secretary, the Director, 
Welsh Treasury and the WRA Implementation Director 

•	 HM Revenue & Customs

•	 Natural Resources Wales

•	 External members of the Fiscal Reform Oversight Group and WRAIP Board

Appendix 1 - Methods

Pack Page 61



Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

Rydym yn croesawu galwadau  
ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru

Pack Page 62



Swyddfa’r Prif Weinidog a Swyddfa’r Cabinet 
Office of the First Minister and Cabinet Office 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

                     Ffôn/Telephone: 029 20 37 0870 
andrew.jeffreys@cymru.gsi.gov.uk/ 

andrew.jeffreys@wales.gsi.gov.uk 
Gwefan ● website: www.cymru.gov.uk 

   

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  9 December 2016  
Dear Auditor General for Wales 
 

Response to the report ‘Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution’ 
(1 December 2016) 
 
I would like to thank you for this report.  I am pleased that the significant progress made to 
date has been recognised, and I very much welcome the recommendations made by the 
WAO.  

Engagement between the WAO and the Welsh Government has been active and 
constructive throughout the fiscal devolution process so far.  As a result, this report 
provides a well-informed and accurate reflection of our efforts to deliver fiscal reform for 
Wales. 

As the report rightly recognises, this is a complex programme of activity and it is moving at 
pace towards April 2018.  There will undoubtedly be some significant challenges ahead.  
The report clearly identifies these potential challenges and this will be helpful as we move 
forward with the Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme and the wider work 
to implement fiscal devolution.  We are confident that these challenges can be met with 
the appropriate plans and skilled and committed staff in place. 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 

Andrew Jeffreys 
Cyfarwyddwr - Director 
Trysorlys Cymru - Welsh Treasury 
 
c.c.  Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 
 Chair of the NAW Finance Committee 
 Chair of the NAW Public Accounts Committee 
 Welsh Government Corporate Governance Unit 
 Permanent Secretary, Welsh Government 
 Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Director 

Mr Huw Vaughan Thomas 

Auditor General for Wales 
Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 

cardiff 
CA 
CARDIFF 
CF11 9LJ 

 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-16 P2

Pack Page 65

mailto:andrew.jeffreys@cymru.gsi.gov.uk/
mailto:andrew.jeffreys@cymru.gsi.gov.uk/
file://HBA63/../../../../../../../../../../www.wales.gov.uk
file://HBA63/../../../../../../../../../../www.wales.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 66

Agenda Item 7 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 95

Agenda Item 8By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Paper(s) to note
	2.1 Letter from the Chair of the Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee to the Chair - Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Health complaints - 5 December 2016
	2.2 Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government regarding Autumn Statement – 6 December 2016
	2016-12-06 CSFLG to Finance Committee - Autumn Statement
	Annex A - Adjustments

	2.3 Letter from Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government regarding Annual Budget Motion - 12 December 2016
	3 Landfill Disposals Tax (Wales) Bill: Evidence session 1
	Research Brief

	6 Wales Audit Office Report: Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales
	Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales
	Contents
	Summary report
	Key areas of focus through to April 2018

	Part 1  The fiscal reform agenda is  well-structured, has been  appropriately resourced, and  is mak
	There is a robust structure for the governance of the fiscal reform agenda that has evolved appropri
	The work to deliver fiscal reform is adequately resourced at present, with appropriately skilled and
	The Welsh Government has made good progress to date in developing the legislative and fiscal framewo
	The Welsh Government is engaging extensively and effectively with a wide range of internal and exter

	Part 2  The Welsh Revenue Authority Implementation Programme is well structured and staffed, althoug
	There is a clear governance and reporting structure to manage the establishment of the Welsh Revenue
	While the Welsh Government estimates that the costs of the resources to set up the Welsh Revenue Aut
	Despite some changes to initial timetables, the delivery of the Welsh Revenue Authority Implementati

	Appendices
	FIN(5)-16-16 P2 Preparations for the implementation of fiscal devolution in Wales: Response from Welsh Government

	7 Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013: The role of the Finance Committee
	8 Forward work programme



